STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County  
Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

AHMAD JAMAL WILKINS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-212387

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err in allowing a jailhouse snitch to testify about Appellant's alleged admission to a prior bad act involving the deceased where the prosecution failed to articulate an exception to the general prohibition against the admission of such evidence, failed to articulate the logical connection between the prior bad act and one of the exceptions, and failed to present evidence establishing the prior bad act by clear and convincing evidence?
- II. Did the trial judge err by refusing to allow Appellant to present the testimony of witnesses in his case-in-chief to challenge the integrity of the police investigation in violation of Appellant's state and federal constitutional rights to present a defense?
- III. Did the trial judge err in denying Appellant the ability to call witnesses in surrepley where the prosecution presented new evidence on reply entitling Appellant to the right to present surrepley denying Appellant's right to present a complete defense as guaranteed by the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution? In the alternative, even if the prosecution did not present new evidence, did the trial judge err in denying Appellant the ability to call witnesses in surrepley due to the trial judge's previous rulings denying Appellant's right to present a complete defense as guaranteed by the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution?
- IV. Did the trial judge err in failing to grant Appellant's motion for a mistrial where the prosecution suppressed evidence that a police officer had been implicated as the murderer and an internal investigation ensued, in violation of Appellant's state and federal constitutional rights?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Richland County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder on October 5, 2011 (2011-GS-40-4656). R. 1208. The prosecution, represented by Kathryn Luck Campbell, Meghan Walker, and Nicole Simpson, called the case for trial on April 9, 2012 before the Honorable Clifton Newman. Brian Shealey, Luke Shealey, and James May represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty of murder. R. 1090, lines 14-17. Judge Newman sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment. R. 1099, lines 6-7; R. 1210. By a written motion filed April 20, 2012, Appellant moved for a new trial. R. 1196. Judge Newman presided over a hearing on on the motion on June 1, 2012. R. 1101. Ultimately, Judge Newman denied the motion. R.1181, line 23 – R. 1184, line 2.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 3, 2009, the Bethel Bishop Apartments staff found the body of the deceased in her apartment. R. 92, lines 12 – 24; R. 95, line 9 – R. 100, line 2; R. 109, lines 15-20; R. 111, line 3 – R. 112, line 16. There were no signs of forced entry, and the apartment staff had to use a key to gain entry. R. 106, line 21 – R. 107, line 7; R. 114, lines 12-14. The police and fire departments responded. R. 117, lines 1-20; R. 131, line 17 – R. 134, line 10. During the botched<sup>1</sup> investigation that followed, the police obtained the deceased's phone records, which showed phone calls between the deceased and Appellant shortly before her death. R. 149, line 16 – R. 150, line 14. Despite an initial claim of following every lead and the existence of multiple promising leads, police investigators admitted to focusing solely on Appellant after learning of the phone records. R. 606, lines 4-5; R. 607, lines 10-12.

Although the apartment clearly had burned by fire, the state's expert could find no ignitable liquids. R. 159, lines 11-13. Nevertheless, the chief fire investigator for the City of Columbia concluded the fire was "the direct result of human hands." R. 180, lines 4-17. The state's pathologist, Dr. Bradley Marcus, determined the cause of death was asphyxia by ligature strangulation. R. 571, lines 19-24. However, he was unable to determine a time of

---

<sup>1</sup> Although the Columbia Police Department lost the sexual assault kit for several months, they incredibly found the kit after the DNA analyst with Richland County repeatedly requested the kit for testing. Although Richland County placed the kit into a sealed box and delivered it to the Columbia Police Department and the box was returned to Richland County sealed, the kit was not in the box. Clearly, the seal on the box had been broken, the kit removed, and the box re-sealed. R. 517, line 18 – R. 518, line 1; R. 539, line 20 – R. 542, line 20. Despite the obvious tampering with evidence, the Columbia Police Department denied any tampering or even that the kit had been lost. Rather, the explanation offered was that "occasionally," there are "times when this might happen, that an individual piece doesn't make it into a box." R. 457, line 20 – R. 458, line 21.

death. R. 590, lines 4-7. Dr. Marcus found no signs of sexual assault. R. 580, lines 3-11.<sup>2</sup> Based upon the autopsy, Dr. Marcus concluded the deceased had died before the fire started. R. 582, line 1 – R. 583, line 5. The toxicology report revealed the deceased had not ingested alcohol, but she had recently ingested cocaine and was a chronic user of cocaine. R. 588, lines 1-20.

The state's DNA expert from the Richland County Sheriff's Office, Rachel Grant, claimed a mixture of DNA from at least three contributors was found on a glove found in the deceased's apartment. R. 502, lines 15-24. Grant further claimed that Appellant's DNA could not be excluded from the mixture. R. 505, lines 3-8. In direct contradiction to her report and to accepted practices, Grant testified that this meant Appellant's DNA "was included in this mixture." R. 505, lines 9-11; R. 511, lines 1-12; R. 525, line 16 – R. 526, line 6; R. 527, lines 3-21; R. 558, line 21 – R. 559, line 16. Grant was forced to clarify that due to the type of DNA testing she was conducting, the DNA results could not exclude Appellant or any of his paternally related relatives, including his brother, who was employed as a maintenance man at the apartment where the deceased died. R. 512, lines 1-7. On the cloth material that was used as a ligature, Grant found a mixture of DNA from at least four male contributors. Although she testified on direct that Appellant's DNA "was included in the mixture," which was in direct contradiction of her report and accepted practices, she was forced to admit on cross-examination the testing actually revealed that Appellant or any

---

<sup>2</sup> The DNA analyst opined that the kit was negative for semen, and therefore, the analyst performed no more testing initially. R. 519, lines 15-17. When the analyst tested the kit that was mysteriously found by the Columbia Police Department, the analyst found no male profile. R. 520, lines 1-13. Notably, the DNA analyst failed to test the kit for the deceased's DNA to ensure that the mysteriously found kit was indeed the kit used to collect samples from the deceased.

paternally related male could not be excluded as a contributor to the mixture. R. 513, lines  
8-20.

## ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in allowing a jailhouse snitch to testify about Appellant's alleged admission to a prior bad act involving the deceased where the prosecution failed to articulate an exception to the general prohibition against the admission of such evidence, failed to articulate the logical connection between the prior bad act and one of the exceptions, and failed to present evidence establishing the prior bad act by clear and convincing evidence.

### **Relevant facts**

#### Pre-trial motion

Before trial, Appellant moved to exclude the testimony of Patruan Hare, a jailhouse snitch, pursuant to Rules 401, 403, and 404(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. R. 143, lines 1-8. Hare had provided a statement to law enforcement claiming to be Appellant's confidante while the two were housed together at the detention center. Appellant explained that Hare's statement could be summarized as follows: "They started to argue. He choked the bitch but said it wasn't the same night that she ended up dead." R. 61, lines 14-21. Thus, the proposed testimony by Hare would be that Appellant had choked the deceased on some unknown night prior to the night of her death. R. 61, line 22 – R. 62, line 2. Appellant further explained that Hare claimed that Appellant had run from the police by sending the police on a "wild goose chase." R. 62, lines 9-14. Appellant clearly objected that Hare's testimony would run afoul of Rule 404(b), SCRE.

The prosecution countered "this goes to the weight and not the admissibility of the evidence." R. 63, lines 1-4; R. 63, lines 7-8. The prosecution's position was that Hare's statement was an admission by Appellant to choking the deceased. R. 63, line 5. Further,

the prosecution argued that the jury could decide what was credible and had “the right to hear that evidence from him.” R. 63, lines 9-13. Later, the prosecutor argued the “evidence applied is generally admissible.” R. 65, lines 16-20. Then, the prosecutor made clear that the evidence was being offered to show character and conformity therewith, when the prosecutor stated:

The fact that he made [an] admission of choking her is specifically pretty significant in this case because she died as a result of that. There’s nothing unusual at all in my experience - - Your Honor, I’m sure you’ve had more experience than I have - - for a defendant to minimize their involvement but to make certain admissions to underlying bad acts.

R. 65, line 21 – R. 66, line 3.

The judge then ruled that although there may be a need for some redaction, the entire statement would not be excluded. He elaborated:

As far as he choked her but she didn’t die that night, the evidence the state has is that the death occurred between some hour and some other hour when her body was discovered the next day.

All of that would be up to the jury to kind of listen and figure out the extent to which this may implicate this defendant or not. Of course, part of their being in prison - - some of this has to be redacted, and we’ll have to get into how much of it has to be.

R. 66, lines 8-17.

When Appellant sought clarification, the judge responded that Hare’s testimony was admissible. “The weight that the jury would give to whether he’s talking about something else or not, I don’t see on its face that it’s referencing some other situation other than the murder of this victim.” R. 66, line 23 – R. 67, line 3.

Hare's testimony at trial

Hare testified that he and Appellant were friends prior to their incarceration at the detention center in 2011. R. 373, line 23 – R. 375, line 14.<sup>3</sup> While the two were incarcerated, Hare questioned Appellant about his pending case and took notes of their conversations. R. 376, lines 2-4. Appellant shared with Hare what evidence the police represented to Appellant that they had against him and how Appellant allegedly evaded the police. R. 376, lines 20-22; R. 377, line 10 – R. 378, line 14. Hare claimed that Appellant admitted that the deceased had called him on the night of her death to “chill with her.” The two were in her living room on the love seat. R. 379, lines 4-13.

Concerning an alibi, Appellant allegedly told Hare that he was going to tell investigators that he was at this girl's house, but she would not vouch for him so he was going to tell the officers that he was sitting under the bridge at three in the morning. R. 379, lines 14-21.

Hare contended that Appellant said he went to the deceased's house to drink and smoke. When Appellant indicated he wanted sex with the deceased, she “wasn't with it.” R. 380, lines 7-14. Then, they argued. Appellant said “he choked the bitch.” **However, this was not the same night that she died.** R. 380, line 21 – R. 381, line 1. Appellant

---

<sup>3</sup> At the time of trial, Hare had been convicted in federal court for drugs and guns. He was serving a twenty-year sentence. R. 390, lines 12-16. As part of his federal debriefing process, Hare had admitted to giving false information to police in March 2009 and to giving fake drugs to his customers. R. 396, line 1 – R. 397, line 19. Hare was forced to admit that he could receive a reward for his testimony against Appellant, but denied that he had been promised anything in exchange for his testimony. He further claimed he was testifying “out of the goodness of [his] heart.” R. 383, line 25 – R. 384, line 24.

objected to this testimony based upon his pretrial objection regarding Rule 404(b), SCRE. R. 381, lines 2-4.

Very confusingly, and exemplifying why Hare should have never been allowed to testify, Hare claimed that Appellant said he had strangled the deceased with a bathrobe and burned the deceased. R. 381, lines 7-10. After objections were made, Hare corrected himself to say that Appellant explained the deceased had died as a result of strangulation. R. 381, lines 23-24. Allegedly, Appellant informed Hare that his DNA was on the bathrobe, that officers had found traces of flammable gas on his clothing, and that officers found a footprint matching a shoe seized from Appellant's residence. R. 382, lines 5-19.<sup>4</sup> Inexplicably, the judge then allowed Hare to read his statement to police on re-direct examination despite any evidence that Hare could not remember what his statement contained or any need to refresh his recollection. R. 412, line 12 – R. 413, line 2.

On cross-examination, Hare admitted that Appellant was sharing with him what the detectives had told Appellant about the crime and Appellant was not admitting that certain evidence against him actually existed. Additionally, **Appellant never told Hare that he killed the deceased**. R. 399, line 14 – R. 400, line 2.

### **Discussion**

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence and case law preclude the introduction of evidence of a defendant's other crimes, wrongs, or acts to prove the defendant's guilt for the crime charged except to establish (1) motive, (2) identity, (3) a common scheme or plan, (4) the absence of mistake or accident, or (5) intent. Rule 404(b), SCRE; State v.

---

<sup>4</sup> The prosecution presented no evidence of a footprint or flammable gas on Appellant's clothing. These were lies used by officers during Appellant's interrogation.

Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). In fact “[e]vidence of other crimes is never admissible unless necessary to establish a material fact or element of the crime charged.” State v. Johnson, 293 S.C. 321, 324, 360 S.E.2d 317, 319 (1987). As explained by the Court in State v. Wesley Smith, 391 S.C. 353, 361, 705 S.E.2d 491,495 (2011), in order to introduce evidence of some other act by the defendant under one of the exceptions, the prosecutor must lay a proper foundation.<sup>5</sup> At the outset, the prosecutor must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant committed the other act, if the defendant was not convicted of the act. Id. (citing State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 23, 664 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2008)). Next, the prosecutor must articulate the logical connection between the other act and one of the five exceptions listed in Rule 404(b), SCRE. Id. (citing State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 211, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006)). This requires a showing of how the evidence of the other act will assist the fact-finder in understanding a material issue in the case related to one of the Rule 404(b), SCRE, exceptions. Id. If the trial judge determines the prosecutor has satisfied both requirements, then the judge must determine whether the probative value outweighs the prejudicial effect pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE. Id. (citing State v. Stokes, 381 S.C. 390, 404, 673 S.E.2d 434, 441 (2009)).

Neither the judge nor the prosecutor explained how the evidence of this alleged prior bad act was admissible against Appellant under one of the exceptions in Rule 404(b), SCRE or that the act had been proven by clear and convincing evidence.

#### Exceptions to Rule 404(b), SCRE

---

<sup>5</sup> Due to the danger this type of evidence poses, “[e]vidence of other crimes must be put to a rather severe test before admission.” State v. Cutro, 332 S.C. 100, 103, 504 S.E.2d 324, 325 (1998).

One of the exceptions contained within Rule 404(b), SCRE is when the evidence is offered to show a common scheme or plan. Evidence of other crimes or bad acts is admissible to show a common scheme or plan when there is “a connection between the prior bad act and the present crime.” State v. Parker, 315 S.C. 230, 233, 433 S.E.2d 831, 832 (1993)(citing State v. Rivers, 273 S.C. 75, 254 S.E.2d 299 (1979)). The connection “must be more than just a general similarity.” Id. (citing State v. Stokes, 279 S.C. 191, 304 S.E.2d 814 (1983)). The prior bad act evidence must have a “close degree of similarity” to the crimes charged. State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 155, 682 S.E.2d 892, 896 (2009). “The evidence must be logically relevant to the particular purpose or purposes for which it is sought to be introduced.” State v. Bell, 302 S.C. 18, 27, 393 S.E.2d 364, 369 (1990).

In Parker, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that a previous fight between the defendant and the deceased was only of a general similarity. The two had met in the same parking lot six months prior to the fatal fight and the defendant had declined the deceased’s invitation to fight at that time. 315 S.C. at 234, 433 S.E.2d at 833. The record failed to disclose the similarities or to draw a real connection between the incidents. Id.

In the instant matter, the prosecution failed to demonstrate how the incident alleged by Hare was logically relevant to show a common scheme or plan by Appellant. At best, the evidence showed a general similarity – choking. However, there was no indication that a ligature was used previously or that a fire had been set. Further, there was no temporal connection because Hare provided no time for when the alleged prior bad act occurred except that it was not the night that the deceased died.

Another exception is identity. In State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 631 S.E.2d 262 (2006), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that a defendant’s alleged statement to

another that he was fleeing from police because a female had accused him of murdering someone and he was out on bond for that murder charge “in no way” identified the defendant as the person who murdered the victim. Rather, the evidence only illustrated that the defendant knew he had been accused of murder and knew the name of the witness. Id. at 211, 631 S.E.2d at 267. Similarly, Appellant’s alleged statement to Hare that he had choked the deceased at some unknown date in no way identified Appellant as the person who used a ligature to strangle the deceased and set her apartment afire on February 3, 2009.

Motive and intent are additional exceptions to the rule prohibiting the introduction of prior bad acts. As these exceptions “are closely related,” Appellant will discuss them together. See State v. Fonseca, 383 S.C. 640, 648, 681 S.E.2d 1, 4 (Ct. App. 2009). On this point, the South Carolina Supreme Court has explained that

[I]n a prosecution for homicide, evidence of other crimes committed by the defendant which are in time and circumstances so intimately connected with and a part of the crime with which he is being charged as to show a motive for the commission of the homicide or a state of mind indicating a purpose for its commission, is admissible to establish such motive or state of mind.

State v. Grainger, 275 S.C. 417, 421, 272 S.E.2d 175, 176 (1980). In State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 124-125, 606 S.E.2d 508, 512 (Ct. App. 2004), this Court held that a prior criminal domestic violence incident between the defendant and victim in an assault and battery trial was admissible to show intent and motive where the victim had pressed charges against the defendant for the prior incident, the defendant had gone to jail for the incident, and the assault and battery occurred only eleven days after his release from jail.

In State v. Plyler, 275 S.C. 291, 296, 270 S.E.2d 126, 128 (1980), our Supreme Court allowed evidence of a verbal altercation between the victim and the defendant three days prior to the killing. The Court explained that “[e]vidence of previous difficulties or ill

feelings between the accused and the victim and of facts showing the cause of such difficulties or ill will is admissible on the question of motives where there is some connection of cause and effect between the evidence and the crime.” *Id.* (emphasis added). Only where the prior bad act evidence shows motive on the part of the accused and is not so remote in time as to negate its probative value may the evidence be admitted. *Id.*

Notably, Hare provided no time for when this alleged incident occurred. It could have occurred one week prior to the deceased’s death or years prior to her death. Thus, the temporal proximity aspect is completely lacking; therefore, the prosecution failed to show the alleged prior choking was so intimately connected to the deceased’s death as to show a motive. There was no evidence the deceased pressed charges against Appellant for the alleged choking like in *Sweat*, supra. The record disclosed absolutely no connection of cause and effect between the prior bad act evidence and the charges against Appellant.

#### Clear and Convincing Evidence

“Clear and convincing evidence is that degree of proof which will produce in the mind of the trier of facts a firm belief as to the allegations sought to be established. Such proof is intermediate, more than a mere preponderance but less than is required for proof beyond a reasonable doubt; it does not mean clear and unequivocal.” *Fletcher*, 379 S.C. at 24, 664 S.E.2d at 483.

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