**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Richland County  
Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2012-212387**

**THE STATE,**

**Respondent,**

**vs.**

**AHMAD JAMAL WILKINS,**

**Appellant.**

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

**ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General**

**JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III  
Senior Assistant Attorney General**

**P. O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305**

**DANIEL E. JOHNSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit  
1701 Main Street, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor  
Columbia, SC 29201

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

---

S.E. 440, 443 (1933) (in prosecution for murder, State properly allowed to elicit evidence on cross-examination of defendant of his prior attempt to poison victim). Likewise, an earlier incident in which Wilkins choked the victim for refusing to have sex with him would be admissible because "[e]vidence of previous difficulties or ill feelings between the accused and the victim and of facts showing the cause of such difficulties or ill will is admissible on the question of motives where there is some connection of cause and effect between the evidence and the crime." *State v. Plyler*, 275 S.C. 291, 296, 270 S.E.2d 126, 128 (1980).

Additionally, Wilkins testified. He admitted going to the victim's apartment on the morning of the murder and he admitted that he left the glove found at the scene. However, he offered an explanation for the glove being present and he expressly denied killing the victim or that he had any reason to do so. In fact, he claimed that she performed oral sex on him in exchange for cocaine. He also presented evidence of an "alibi" and he suggested that the DNA results were consistent with having been left by his brother (Idris Wilkins), a maintenance man at the complex who had a master key for the apartments. **R. pp. 870-903; 940-41.** *See also R. p. 382* (Hare); **p. 527-38** (cross-examination of State's DNA analyst); **pp. 775-94** (testimony of defense's DNA analyst); **p. 1012** (closing argument of counsel). Hare's testimony contradicted much of Wilkins' testimony, by supplying a possible motive for the murder (the victim's refusal to have sex with her drug dealer, Wilkins), the identity of the killer and evidence of Wilkins' malice.

Nor was Hare's testimony prejudicial to Wilkins in an evidentiary sense. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has explained, "[u]nfair prejudice' within its context means an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.'" *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991). Again, the credibility of the comments did not relate to their admissibility. Also, while there was no requirement that the admissions be corroborated in order for them to be admissible, the physical evidence at the crime scene, including the DNA testing of the bathrobe that was used as a ligature and the glove, did tend to corroborate these admissions. Moreover, Wilkins had ample opportunity to cross-examine Hare about these admissions and he availed himself of that opportunity. **R. pp. 385-404; 414.** Therefore, the admissions were admissible.

Finally, any error in the introduction of Hare's testimony must be viewed as non-

prejudicial and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, since its introduction could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial, in light of the other circumstantial evidence of guilt discussed in the "Statement of Facts." This evidence included the Y-profiler test results of touch DNA from the ligature used to strangle the victim and a glove left at the scene that could not exclude him or other paternally related males; the cell phone records of his phone and that of the victim, as well as the testimony of friends showing that he was the last person known to have spoken to the victim while she was alive; and surveillance video of someone near the victim's apartment shortly before she was murdered who was dressed similarly to him. *See State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) ("Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial"); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) ("When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result").

**II. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by refusing to allow Wilkins to present the testimony of witnesses, in his case-in-chief, to challenge the integrity of the police investigation because the proffered evidence was remote in time, it constituted inadmissible hearsay statements by the victim and it was nothing more than a veiled effort to improperly introduce evidence of third party guilt, without presenting any evidence actually tending to establish the involvement of the third party, Lt. Melron Kelly, in the victim's death.**

Next, Wilkins contends that the trial judge erred by refusing to allow him to present Sierra Austin and Dawn Davis Young in his case-in-chief because their testimony allegedly would have challenged the integrity of the police investigation by "indicat[ing] the police had failed to conduct an adequate investigation by failing to follow-up on leads concerning 'one of their own' - Melron Kelly. [Young] and Austin would have provided the link between the testimony of Tasha Praylow about the deceased's fear of Kelly" and supposed shortcomings in

the City of Columbia Police Department's investigation. He further contends that their testimony would have "show[n] a motivation for such shoddy work." Respondent submits that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in excluding this testimony because the proffered evidence was remote in time, it constituted inadmissible hearsay statements by the victim and it was nothing more than a veiled effort to improperly introduce evidence of third party guilt, without presenting any evidence actually tending to establish the involvement of the third party, Lt. Melron Kelly, in the victim's death. *Contra State v. Gregory*, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532 (1941).

**A. How issue developed at trial.**

During the defense's case-in-chief, Assistant Solicitor Campbell observed that Wilkins had asked a police officer on cross-examination about whether "Tasha Praylow [had] accus[ed] a police officer of something untoward in this case." She noted that the trial judge had already ruled on third party guilt and she asked for notice and for the trial judge to have a hearing outside the presence of the jury prior to testimony by any witnesses who were "going to go into third-party guilt issues that violate[d]" the trial judge's previous ruling. The trial judge agreed to "conduct that hearing, if necessary." **R. p. 815, lines 3-24.**

Wilkins asserted that while the State was arguing about third party guilt, the defense "was mirroring" the Supreme Court's decision in *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 437, 115 S.Ct. 1555 (1995) ("[T]he individual prosecutor has a duty to learn of any favorable evidence known to the others acting on the government's behalf in the case, including the police"). After listening to further argument and Wilkins' oral proffer of the three proposed witnesses (**R. p. 816, line 4 – p. 818, line 17**), the trial judge heard the witnesses' testimony *in camera*.

Tasha Praylow testified that she lived in Bethel Bishop Apartments. She knew Ebony Williams and saw Ebony around 11:30 p.m., on the night before Ebony's murder. Ebony

supposedly told Praylow that she was scared that a police officer, Melron Kelly, was “coming to kill her.” Both women were standing in the rain looking for crack cocaine when the conversation allegedly occurred. Ebony also told Praylow that she and Lt. Kelly had a “*platonic relationship*.” **R. p. 819, line 22 – p. 820, line 16; p. 820, line 23 – p. 821, line 1; p. 822, lines 8-11; p. 825, line 24 – p. 827, line 12.** (Emphasis added).

Praylow claimed that Inv. Reese interviewed her at her cousin’s apartment, on the morning that Ebony’s body was found. She asked him whether Lt. Kelly “was a suspect, and he said no.” She did not tell Inv. Reese about Ebony’s alleged fear of Kelly, and she never subsequently disclosed this supposed conversation to police. Rather, she first divulged it when interviewed by the defense’s investigator. **R. p. 820, lines 17-22; p. 822, line 17 – p. 825, line 23; p. 827, lines 18-24.**

Sierra Austin testified that she lived next door to Ebony at Bethel Bishop. Ebony allegedly told Austin “probably like two or three weeks before [the murder]” that she was pregnant and that “Officer Kelly” was the father. Austin did not know whether or not Ebony was actually pregnant. When questioned by police on the day that Ebony’s body was found, Austin never mentioned this conversation with the victim. Rather, she first mentioned it when the defense investigator interviewed her. **R. p. 828, line 15 – p. 831, line 5; p. 834, line 8 – p. 838, line 16.**<sup>15</sup>

Dawn Davis Young testified that she also lived in Bethel Bishop Apartments when Ebony was murdered. “A couple of days before her death,” Ebony asked Young “how would she go about messing ... around with an officer, would I do it, and I told her no.” Ebony never mentioned that she was pregnant although the women were “good friends,” and Young did not

---

<sup>15</sup> During Austin’s testimony and over objection, the trial judge compelled the defense to provide the State with copies of the statements that it had taken from these three witnesses. **R. pp. 829-34.**

“learn” that Ebony was supposedly pregnant, “[u]ntil after.” She never told the police about this conversation and first mentioned it when the defense’s investigator spoke to her. **R. p. 839, line 4 – p. 843, line 1.**

The State argued that none of these statements were admissible because they were hearsay; they did not constitute evidence of the victim’s state of mind under Rule 803(3), SCRE, *State v. Weston*, 367 S.C. 279, 625 S.E.2d 641 (2006) and *State v. Garcia*, 334 S.C. 71, 512 S.E.2d 507 (1999); and that the proffered evidence was actually an effort to improperly introduce evidence of third party guilt. **R. p. 843, line 21 – p. 844, line 16; p. 847, lines 1-19.** On the other hand, Wilkins argued that “this is relevant evidence as it goes to whether or not the defendant is guilty of murder.” He characterized Praylow’s testimony as the “lynchpin,” which made the other testimony relevant. **R. p. 844, line 18 – p. 846, line 24.**

After reviewing *Garcia* at length, the trial judge ruled that Praylow’s testimony was admissible under the state of mind exception but he found that the testimony of Austin and Young was inadmissible. **R. p. 847, line 20 – p. 848, line 25; p. 849, line 9 – p. 850, line 10; p. 851, lines 1-10.**

Praylow subsequently testified before the jury that around 11:30 p.m. on the night of the incident, Praylow and Ebony were standing in the street doing crack cocaine when Ebony told Praylow that “someone was coming to kill her.” Ebony identified that “someone” as “Kelly.” Praylow, a confessed drug user, knew that this meant Lt. Kelly, who was in charge of the Columbia Police Department’s narcotics unit. When allegedly questioned by police on the following morning, Praylow asked Inv. Kevin Reese whether Lt. Kelly was a suspect and he informed her that Lt. Kelly was not. She admitted that she never provided information about Ebony’s alleged statement to law enforcement. Rather, she first revealed this a week prior to

trial, when questioned by the defense investigator. R. p. 855, line 5 – p. 859, line 18; p. 862, line 3 – p. 866, line 18.

On cross-examination, Praylow testified that Ebony had asked Praylow to come to her apartment because she was scared. Although Bethel Bishop is a closely-knit community, Praylow did not go to Ebony's apartment. Instead, Praylow testified that "I didn't pay her no attention," and went "[a]bout my business." R. p. 859, line 23 – p. 860, line 2; 860, line 23 – p. 861, line 13.

Following the State's presentation of Inv. Reese and Lt. Kelly in reply, Wilkins asked for permission to call Austin and Young as surrebuttal witnesses but the trial judge ruled that he could not do so. R. p. 972, line 19 – p. 974, line 24; p. 975, line 16 – p. 977, line 15.

**B. Wilkins' new trial motion.**

Wilkins raised the trial judge's ruling as a ground in his April 20, 2012 motion for a new trial (R. pp. 1196-1200) and the State opposed this motion in the State's Response To Defense Motion For A New Trial. R. pp. 1201-07. The trial judge heard argument by the parties on this issue and the failure to allow the witnesses to testify in surrebuttal. R. pp. 1102-23. He thereafter denied the motions. R. pp. 1181-84. *See also Argument III, infra.*

**C. Discussion.**

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by refusing to allow Wilkins to present Austin and Young as part of his case-in-chief. As noted, "[a]n abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." *Wise*, 359 S.C. at 21, 596 S.E.2d at 478. Here, the proffered testimony about statements supposedly made by the victim was rank hearsay. "Hearsay is an out of court statement, offered in court to prove the truth of the matter asserted." *State v. Townsend*, 321 S.C. 55, 59, 467 S.E.2d

138, 141 (Ct.App.1996)). "Hearsay is inadmissible as evidence unless an exception applies." *Id.*  
*See also Watson v. State*, 370 S.C. 68, 71, 634 S.E.2d 642, 644 (2006):

Wilkins has not offered this Court any applicable exception to the hearsay rule.<sup>16</sup> Instead, he asserts that the proffered testimony was admissible to demonstrate the supposed reason for his perceived deficiencies in the investigation by the Columbia Police Department and as part of his constitutional right to present a complete defense. Yet, neither of these reasons demonstrates that the trial judge abused his discretion by excluding evidence that was otherwise patently inadmissible.

Initially, Respondent submits that attacking the adequacy of the investigation is not an independent basis for allowing the introduction of inadmissible evidence. Also, it is difficult to fathom how the testimony of either witness was admissible to help show a reason for a "shoddy" investigation, as Wilkins suggests, since neither woman was willing to share the information that she allegedly had with police and the women only came forward when interviewed by Wilkins' investigator, shortly before trial.<sup>17</sup> Further, as the Initial Brief of Appellant makes unerringly clear, the real purpose for presenting these witnesses was to present the victim's alleged statements for the truth of the matter asserted. In other words, this was nothing more than a veiled effort to improperly introduce evidence of third party guilt, without presenting any evidence actually tending to establish the involvement of the third party, Lt. Melron Kelly, in the

---

<sup>16</sup> Although he did make arguments about exceptions to the hearsay rule at trial, these have not been argued on appeal and have been abandoned. *Jinks v. Richland Cnty.*, 355 S.C. 341, 344, 585 S.E.2d 281; 283 (2003) (holding issues not argued in the brief are deemed abandoned and precluded from consideration on appeal); *State v. Mitchell*, 399 S.C. 410, 420 n. 4, 731 S.E.2d 889, 895 n. 4 (Ct.App. 2012) (same).

<sup>17</sup> Austin clearly testified that she never mentioned this conversation with the victim when questioned by police on the day that Ebony's body was found. Rather, she first mentioned it when the defense investigator interviewed her. R. p. 829, line 15 – p. 831, line 5; p. 834, line 8 – p. 836, line 5; p. 837, lines 9-19. Young likewise never told the police about this conversation and first mentioned it when the defense's investigator spoke to her. R. p. 841, line 20 – p. 843, line 1.

victim's death, either directly or circumstantially. Obviously, this contravenes well settled South Carolina law.

Nor does Wilkins' constitutional right to present a complete defense show that the trial judge abused his discretion. As this Court explained in *State v. Burgess*, 391 S.C. 15, 21-22, 703 S.E.2d 512, 515-16 (Ct.App. 2010),

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